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    Introduction



    
        By the middle of the nineteenth century, Victorian Britain was the most
        powerful and affluent country in the world. Its only serious rival,
        Napoleonic France, had been defeated at Waterloo in 1815.
    
    The British Royal Navy was unchallenged on the high seas and maintained
    trade routes between Britain and its empire which stretched across the
    globe. The Industrial Revolution had brought wealth to some while changing
    the way that the majority lived and worked.



    However, while some people lived a life of comfort and ease, Victorian
    Britain was also a place of gross inequality. Only around one in five men
    had the vote, and women would not secure voting rights until the following
    century. Poverty was endemic in some British cities, and industrialization
    brought hardship with high levels of infant mortality and no legal
    protection for workers. Those who protested or tried to form trade unions
    were often brutally suppressed.



    However, there was one part of the United Kingdom where inequality,
    poverty, and division were even more prevalent than any other. At the time
    Queen Victoria came to the throne, one-third of the British population
    lived in Ireland, a place even more split by sectarian, political, and
    social division than the mainland. In the years 1845 to 1849, a failure of
    several consecutive potato crops caused a famine in Ireland on such a scale
    to rival anything else seen in the nineteenth century.



    More than ten percent of the population of Ireland died as a direct result
    of what became known as the Great Famine; more than twenty percent of the
    survivors decided to leave their country permanently. By the end of the
    Victorian era, the population of Ireland was around half of what it had
    previously been. How could this be? How could more than one million people
    be left to starve to death in a modern, industrialized, affluent country?
    Was this famine really a natural disaster or, as some people have claimed,
    a deliberately engineered attempt to decimate the troublesome population of
    Ireland?



    In this book, we will discover the riveting story of the Irish Potato
    Famine.



    



    
    


Chapter One



    Background



    “Why should Ireland be treated as a geographical fragment of
    England—Ireland is not a geographical fragment, but a nation.”



    —Charles Stewart Parnell



    The island of Ireland lies across the Irish Sea from mainland Britain. The
    distance is less than fifty miles, but the history of the two islands is
    troubled and very different. Although Ireland has its own distinct culture
    and language, its proximity to England has meant that it was an unwilling
    part of the British Empire for much of its history. The first formal
    connection between Ireland and England occurred in 1172 CE when
    
        Pope Alexander III declared that King Henry II of England was the
        feudal lord of Ireland, giving the English king the right to hold
        estates in Ireland and to impose English laws on the country.
    



    There followed several hundred years of strife between the Gaelic
    indigenous people and incomers from England. In 1542, Henry VIII was the
    first English king to also be formally inaugurated as the king of Ireland,
    but there were continuing revolts against English rule which culminated in
    a series of bloody confrontations in Ireland during the English Civil War.
    This was followed by a revolution in 1688 which ended when the deposed King
    James VII was finally defeated by Prince William of Orange at the Battle of
    the Boyne in 1690.



    The British government continued to see Ireland as a potential source of
    rebellion and the Irish people as dangerous radicals.
    
        In 1695 and 1704, partly as punishment for their support of King James
        VII, a series of draconian Penal Laws were passed which targeted the
        Catholic majority in Ireland. Catholics were forbidden to vote or to
        join the British Army, and their opportunities for education were
        severely limited. Anyone who did not take communion in the established
        Church of England was barred from holding any form of public office or
        employment. For most of the eighteenth century, Catholics in Ireland
        remained discriminated against in favor of Protestant incomers from
        England who became the most significant landowners in Ireland.
    



    Then, in 1775, the culmination of the American Revolutionary War gave hope
    to those Irish people who dreamt of independence. American revolutionaries
    had waged a successful war against the British Empire and had established
    their own country on a democratic and non-sectarian basis. In the late
    1700s, the revolution in France swept away the monarchy and replaced it
    with a new form of democratic government. These dramatic developments gave
    hope to the Irish, and in 1798 a rebellion against British rule erupted.



    The rebellion was led by the United Irishmen, a republican revolutionary
    group led by disaffected Presbyterians and supported mainly by the Catholic
    population of the country. Against them stood the British Army supported by
    Protestants from the north. The war which followed was brutal, bloody, and
    confused. At one point a French Revolutionary Army attempted to land in the
    south of Ireland to support the Republicans but was defeated by the British
    Army and Navy. No one is quite sure how many people died during this
    rebellion, though some estimates suggest that there may have been up to
    50,000 casualties, many being prisoners and civilians massacred by both
    sides.



    The rebellion formally ended in 1798 with the defeat of the Republicans,
    but in several Irish counties there was a form of undeclared guerilla
    warfare between remnants of the Republican Army and Loyalists until as late
    as 1803.
    
        Determined to prevent any further insurrection in Ireland, the British
        and Irish parliaments passed the Act of Union in 1800 which formally
        made Ireland a part of the United Kingdom and removed any last vestige
        of autonomy from the Irish people by abolishing the Irish Parliament.
    



    During the first quarter of the nineteenth century, there was a great deal
    of agitation within Ireland for the repeal of the acts of parliament which
    disenfranchised Catholics. These efforts were led by the
    
        Catholic Irish lawyer and politician Daniel O’Connell
    
    who, in 1823, formed a non-violent organisation named the Catholic
    Association
    
        aimed at the abolition of the Act of Union and the restitution of the
        Irish Parliament and the repeal of the Penal Laws.
    



    O’Connell was unsuccessful in attempting to repeal the Act of Union, but
    his movement led to the passing of the Roman Catholic Relief Act 1829 which
    finally allowed Catholics to sit in the British parliament.
    
        Daniel O’Connell was elected and took his seat to become the first
        Catholic member of parliament in Westminster since 1689.
    



    However, there were other movements in Ireland which were less peaceful in
    their approach. Periodic unrest and violence broke out in several areas of
    Ireland. In Ulster in the north, there were repeated clashes between
    Catholics and the Protestants of the newly established Orange Order.
    
        In rural areas most landowners were either English or Protestant or
        both, and tenant farmers and farm workers could be evicted at short
        notice and were very poorly paid.
    
    In response, a number of secret societies sprang up which were dedicated to
    stand up for tenant’s rights. The Ribbon Society, for example, was a
    secret, agrarian society which used the threat of violence and intimidation
    to prevent landlords from evicting poor tenants.



    Members of groups such as the Ribbon Society (who became known as
    Ribbonmen) generally supported O’Connell’s Catholic Association as well as
    Irish independence. This brought them into frequent conflict with the
    Orange Order, a protestant, loyalist fraternal order. These confrontations
    sometimes became violent, as in the attack by Ribbonmen on a tavern in the
    village of Garvagh in County Londonderry in 1813 where members of the
    Orange Order were holding a meeting. One Ribbonman was killed in the
    attack, and the northern part of Ireland became the scene of several
    violent clashes between these two groups.



    In the 1830s, an episode which became known as
    
        the Tithe War suddenly erupted. It began as a series of peaceful
        protests but soon became interspersed with violent confrontations. The
        issue was the requirement for people living in Ireland to pay an annual
        tithe towards the maintenance of the official Church of Ireland. Many
        Catholics objected because they were in effect being forced to
        subsidize a Protestant church which they neither used nor wanted.
    



    Between 1830 and 1836, there was an organized effort at resisting the
    payment of tithes. For the most part, this protest was conducted
    peacefully, but there was organized and continuing violence, especially in
    rural areas. A British government report on the situation noted 242 murders
    and over 160 violent assaults in 1831 alone. In December 1834 at Rathcormac
    in County Cork, armed members of the Royal Irish Constabulary supported by
    units of the British Army opened fire on protestors during an attempt to
    collect a tithe worth less than 40 shillings, killing 12 people and
    injuring 42.



    
        Finally, the British government changed the rules regarding tithes so
        that these were included in rents and paid by landlords. However, this
        simply removed the necessity for collection of the tithes from tenants
        and made this instead the responsibility of landlords.
    
    
        In rural areas or Ireland, there remained a great deal of animosity
        between the impoverished tenant farmers and workers who were mainly
        Catholic and landlords and representatives of the establishment who
        were generally Protestants.
    



    



    


Chapter Two



    Farming in Ireland



    “No person knows better than you do that the domination of England is the
    sole and blighting curse of this country. It is the incubus that sits on
    our energies, stops the pulsation of the nation’s heart and leaves to
    Ireland not gay vitality but the horrid convulsions of a troubled dream.”



    —Daniel O’Connell



    Farming in Ireland was not uniform in the first half of the nineteenth
    century—different parts of the country grew different crops. In Ulster in
    the north, there were large crops of flax which were used to make linen. By
    1820, there were more than 70,000 weavers in Ulster, and by the middle of
    the nineteenth century there were a number of linen mills, particularly in
    the area close to Belfast. The linen produced in Ulster was of particularly
    fine quality and was mainly exported to England and other countries,
    bringing wealth to this area of Ireland.



    The area around Cork in the south was a major center for dairy farming.
    Landowners would buy large herds of cattle which they would then rent to
    dairymen who would produce milk and other dairy products. Upland areas in
    Cork were used for growing hay to produce winter feed for these cattle and
    to the north, in the central part of Ireland, cattle were bred for beef
    which were mainly exported to England and the United States.



    In Leinster in southeast Ireland, good agricultural land allowed the
    creation of large commercial farms which, by the mid-nineteenth century
    were producing grain used to make flour and to supply the many breweries on
    the island.



    In the one hundred years leading up to the Great Famine, the population of
    Ireland increased dramatically, and this had led to increasing pressure on
    agricultural land. Many people were forced to try to subsist on small farms
    in lands on the west, Atlantic coast of Ireland. Initially, the land close
    to houses was used for growing oats or barley while higher ground was used
    for grazing cattle. The land itself was often poor, and fertilizer was
    scarce and expensive. People tried using seaweed as a fertilizer and
    discovered that potatoes did particularly well on this. As a result,
    
        the potato became the dominant crop in a large area of densely
        populated small farms which stretched down the west coast of Ireland.
    



    
        The potato was not indigenous to Ireland—it had been brought to Britain
        by explorers in the New World
    
    , arriving in Ireland in around 1600. For the next one hundred years, only
    small numbers of potatoes were cultivated in Ireland, and it wasn’t until
    around 1750 when
    
        new varieties of potato which were better suited to the climate of
        Ireland were produced that it became a popular crop with farmers who
        discovered that planting potatoes was more profitable than many other
        crops.
    



    However, transporting potatoes was not easy, and in general, the commercial
    production of potatoes was done only on farms close to Dublin and other
    large markets. Instead,
    
        the potato became the main crop of subsistence farmers and poor farm
        workers who grew it for food.
    
    As the prices of grain increased, so the dependence of the poorest people
    in Ireland on the potato also increased. By the early 1800s, the population
    of Ireland was close to eight million, and a large segment of this
    population was dependent on the potato. By the 1830s,
    
        around 35% of the people in Ireland were completely dependent on the
        potato as a main source of nutrition, and for up to half of the
        population potatoes were an important part of their diet.
    



    In 1700, it was estimated that the average farm worker in Connaught ate one
    meal per day which included potato. By 1800, this had risen to two meals
    per day. By 1840, it had reached three meals per day with each worker
    consuming up to 5kg (11lbs) of potatoes. Nutritionally, this was
    acceptable—if milk was included in the diet, then this provided sufficient
    protein, carbohydrates, energy, and minerals to maintain health and
    vitality.



    The problem was that potatoes cannot be stored for long periods. In
    general, if potatoes are stored for more than nine months, they begin to
    rot. Therefore, each season was dependent on the successful harvest of a
    new crop. There had always been a lean period in Ireland, towards the end
    of the summer before the harvesting of the new crop of potatoes began in
    the autumn. Traditionally, this was solved by growing green crops, which
    could be harvested during the summer, and using food scraps to feed pigs,
    which could then be sold or eaten in late summer before the new crop of
    potatoes was ready.



    
        By the 1840s, one-third of the population of Ireland was completely
        dependent on the potato as their main source of nutrition. This
        included the poorest people living in rural areas and large numbers of
        agricultural workers and subsistence farmers. While sufficient
        quantities of potato were available, this worked well. However, the
        fact that potatoes cannot be stored for long and are difficult to
        transport meant that this large segment of the population was utterly
        dependent on the potato harvest which began in September each year.
    
    Any failure in the potato crop meant potential starvation for large numbers
    of people.



    The idea that the potato crop might fail seemed ridiculous. Having been
    grown in Ireland for more than 150 years, the process of growing potatoes
    was well understood and new varieties did very well in the Irish climate.
    It was very difficult to imagine that anything other than a full-scale
    environmental disaster could affect every variety of potato. Then, in
    September of 1845,
    
        people began to notice that many of the potatoes they harvested looked
        strange. Their leaves were withered and the potatoes themselves were
        black, smelled bad, and were inedible.
    
    What could this mean?



    



    


Chapter Three



    The Blight Arrives



    “As to the potatoes they are all gone—clean gone. If travelling by night,
    you would know when a potato field was near by the smell. The fields
    present a space of withered black stalks.”



    —Extract from a letter written by a priest traveling through Galway, 1846



    Potatoes are, like most crops, subject to a number of diseases. However,
    they are particularly susceptible to fungal diseases which affect the
    tubers.
    
        In America and Canada in 1843 and 1844, there had been a particularly
        bad outbreak of a fungal infection affecting potatoes. We now know that
        this was caused by Phytophthora infestans, a water mold which
        attacks potato plants.
    
    At the time, this was simply known as “the blight.” In America, the first
    sign of a problem was when the leaves of potato plants began to wither and
    turn black. Come harvest time, it was discovered that the potatoes
    themselves were black and rotting.



    The tiny fungal spores spread by air. If a single plant was afflicted, it
    would quickly spread the mold to other potato plants in the area. A single
    infected plant could infect a whole field in a frighteningly short period,
    especially if conditions were damp and moist.



    In Britain, it was known that some sort of disease had affected potatoes in
    America
    
        (the actual cause of the disease was not identified until the 1890s)
    
    . The reliance of the people of Ireland on the potato was also known and
    understood, as was the potential for disaster if the blight from America
    should spread to Ireland. Unfortunately, it was almost certain that it
    would. Phytophthora infestans produces millions of tiny spores,
    invisible to the naked eye. Ships were regularly plying between Canada,
    America, and Britain, and it was all but inevitable that the blight that
    had ravaged the American and Canadian potato crops would reach the British
    Isles. This mold spreads especially successfully in wet or damp conditions
    and, to make matters worse, the summer of 1845 was particularly wet in
    Ireland.



In August 1845,    British Prime Minister Sir Robert Peel received
    news that a similar blight seemed to be affecting potato crops in England.
    This was serious, but the population of England was not reliant on the
    potato to the same extent as in Ireland. Historian Cecil Woodham-Smith
    later wrote that “a failure in England would be serious, but for Ireland,
    it would be a disaster.”
    
        On September 13, 1845, Prime Minister Peel received the first reports
        of potato blight in Ireland.
    



    As the potato harvest in Ireland continued, it was clear that there was a
    major problem. In October, Peel ordered a scientific commission to visit
    Ireland and to report on the potato blight. He also convened a Cabinet
    meeting at which he suggested, amongst other things, to immediately repeal
    the Corn Laws in order to reduce the price of bread.



    The Corn Laws were a set of tariffs and other trade restrictions on the
    import of grain into Britain. These laws had been enacted in 1815 following
    the end of the Napoleonic Wars and were intended to protect British
    farmers, though one consequence of the laws was to keep the price of grain
    and bread artificially high. Many politicians were concerned that repealing
    the Corn Laws would be a disaster for the farmers of Britain and might even
    lead to a breakdown in social cohesion. Some politicians were openly
    skeptical about reports coming out of Ireland and ignorant of how serious a
    lack of potatoes might be for a large part of the Irish population.
    
        The Cabinet refused to accede to Peel’s request, causing the prime
        minister to resign though he was soon reinstated when it became
        apparent that the opposition was unable to form a viable government.
    



    Peel ordered the secret purchase of 
    £100,000 of Indian corn (maize) from America which was to be held for
    distribution in Ireland if required. In mid-November,
    
        the scientific commission reported that at least one-third and perhaps
        as much as one-half of the Irish potato crop had been destroyed by the
        blight.
    
    Initially, this report did not cause major concern. Between 1800 and 1845,
    there had been at least 16 partial failures of the potato crop for a
    variety of reasons. These had caused hardship and hunger, but all had been
    resolved when the next year’s harvest arrived. The assumption in 1845 was
    that the same thing would happen—there might be food shortages due to the
    blight and it was possible that some form of temporary relief might need to
    be organized for parts of Ireland, but the problems would be confined to
    certain areas, and the harvest in 1846 would supply sufficient to replenish
    stocks. At first, no-one had any idea that the blight of the potato crop
    would affect all areas of Ireland or that it would last more than one year.



    There were many speculations about what might have caused the blight. Some
    people were certain it was caused by the steam from newly created railways.
    Others were equally certain that it was the result of poisonous vapors
    emanating from the very center of the Earth. Whatever the cause, at first,
    no-one seemed unduly concerned. Some ardent social reformers even welcomed
    the lack of potatoes, reasoning that the poor in Ireland had become
    altogether too dependent on the potato and that a failure of the crop might
    give an opportunity to transform rural life in Ireland.



    



    


Chapter Four



    Food Shortages and Relief Committees



    “The real evil with which we have to contend is not the physical evil of
    the Famine, but the moral evil of the selfish, perverse and turbulent
    character of the [Irish] people.”



    —Charles Edward Trevelyan



    A relief commission was set up in Dublin to oversee the creation of local
    relief committees across Ireland. These groups were to be formed by notable
    local citizens including the clergy, landowners, and magistrates, and their
    purpose was to distribute food to those worst affected by the potato
    blight. They were to raise funds by taxation on wealthy people in the local
    area. The British government pledged to match all monies raised by local
    relief committees.



    Unfortunately, these local relief committees were not a notable success.
    Many of the biggest landowners in Ireland were absentee landlords, often
    from England, who had no contact with ordinary people in the area and
    therefore no knowledge of how serious the failure of the potato crop was.
    Even when landlords were local people, relief committees were often run by
    farmers, men with little formal education whose bluster and rowdy behavior
    offended the sensibilities of the educated, upper-class landlords. Because
    of these issues and because in the early stages no-one understood just how
    serious the situation really was, little money was raised.



    With the failure of the local relief committees, Prime Minister Robert Peel
    appointed Charles Edward Trevelyan, Assistant Secretary to Her Majesty’s
    Treasury, to oversee relief efforts in Ireland.
    Trevelyan would become one of the most significant and most controversial
    people involved in providing relief to those affected by the potato blight.



    In the winter of 1845 and into the spring of 1846, there were food
    shortages in Ireland, but no starvation or deaths attributable directly to
    the failure of the potato crop. Most people were confident that a good crop
    in the autumn of 1846 would provide a complete remedy. The main issue in
    the spring of 1846 in Ireland was not a lack of food but a lack of work.
    The failure of the potato crop meant that many farm workers were without
    work, and local relief committees were overwhelmed by the unemployed.



    Charles Trevelyan attempted to set up a scheme of public works in Ireland
    funded by the British government in order to give work to the unemployed.
    However, this, like many other schemes overseen by Trevelyan, proved to be
    complex and unnecessarily bureaucratic and provided little practical help.
    There were riots by the unemployed in some parts of southern and western
    Ireland, and British troops were used to restore order.



    Prime Minister Peel had addressed the food shortage in the most direct
    way—without consulting his party, he had authorized the purchase of two
    shipments of Indian corn from America at a cost of £100,000, and these were
    taken to Ireland starting in February 1846. However, the first problem was
    that Ireland had few mills capable of grinding the hard maize into meal,
    and it took some time before this was accomplished. Then the relief
    commission organized the sale of the cornmeal to local relief committees at
    a cost of one penny per pound. The intention was that local committees
    would then sell it on at the same price, but the problem was that the poor
    in many areas had no money whatsoever to buy this corn and efforts to raise
    money to allow its distribution for free had not been successful.



    The corn itself, where it was distributed, caused problems. It provided
    little bulk to those used to consuming many pounds of potatoes per day, and
    many people complained that it wasn’t satisfying. It also took longer to
    cook than potatoes (and so required more fuel), was more difficult to
    digest and often caused diarrhea. The corn also lacked Vitamin C, something
    that potatoes provide in abundance, and a diet where corn was used to
    replace potatoes sometimes led to vitamin deficiency and even to outbreaks
    of scurvy.



By June 1846, the stocks of maize were virtually exhausted.    Charles Trevelyan made no attempt to replenish
    these to feed the hungry or to obtain some other food which could be
    distributed if required. Partly, this was because Trevelyan believed that a
    good potato harvest in 1846 would end the problem, but there were also
    other factors involved. Trevelyan, like many other British politicians and
    civil servants,
    
        was a believer in the policy of laissez-faire (“let it be”).
        Under this system, government interference of any sort in the supply
        and demand of the commercial world was felt to be unhelpful, and the
        best and quickest way to resolve any problem was considered to be to do
        nothing at all as to not disrupt the “natural order” of the world.
    



    Generally, laissez-faire was used in Victorian Britain to justify allowing
    landowners and industrialists to exploit the poor in the most brutal and
    callous ways. Provided that wealth kept flowing into the national coffers,
    it was believed that the system was working and the poverty and near
    destitution of a large segment of the population was considered a small
    price to pay. If large quantities of food had been brought into Ireland,
    some people, including Trevelyan, felt that this would unfairly harm the
    commercial interests of landowners and businesses.



    
        In the same way, many people felt that it would be wrong to interfere
        with exports of wheat, barley, oats, and oatmeal which were being sent
        from Ireland to Britain, though there were no food shortages in
        Britain.
    
    These exports continued even through the worst of the famine that was to
    follow.



    The situation was further complicated by the character of Trevelyan
    himself. Trevelyan was very influential during the famine particularly over
    the actions of the British Parliament. Trevelyan felt that it would be
    unhelpful if the British government provided too much help to the Irish
    because the people of that country might become dependent on handouts. For
    the Irish to become “habitually dependent” on British support would not be
    helpful to either country, and Trevelyan felt that it was the
    responsibility of Irish landowners, not the British government to ensure
    that hardship did not turn into famine. More than once Trevelyan stated
    that his intention was to make sure that “Irish property support Irish
    poverty.”



    For that reason, when supplies of the maize secretly purchased by Peel ran
    out, Trevelyan simply ended all the relief programs which involved
    distributing food in Ireland and closed the food depots which had been set
    up. Another shipment of maize from America which was actually en-route to
    Ireland was cancelled. By July 1946,
    
        no food was being distributed or subsidized in Ireland by or on behalf
        of the British government.
    



    Trevelyan was a very hard-working man—he was often in his office until
    three in the morning, but he found it difficult to delegate and wanted to
    be involved at every step of every process, which slowed things
    considerably. Trevelyan refused to visit Ireland during the famine, apart
    from one brief trip when he went only as far as Dublin. He claimed that
    this allowed him to remain objective and to make decisions based on logic
    rather than emotion. Other people suggested this was because he did not
    care what happened to the people of Ireland. The situation was further
    complicated by the fact that Trevelyan was a staunch Protestant who looked
    with suspicion and distrust and the mainly Catholic population of Ireland.
    In a newspaper article written at the height of the famine, he noted his
    belief that the problems afflicting Ireland might be a punishment from God
    for the Irish adoption of popery. “The judgement of God sent the calamity
    to teach the Irish a lesson, that calamity must not be too much mitigated.
    . . . The real evil with which we have to contend is not the physical evil
    of the Famine, but the moral evil of the selfish, perverse and turbulent
    character of the people.”



    When Prime Minister Peel was forced to resign once again in June 1846,
    
        the government of Britain was taken over by a Liberal government led by
        Lord John Russell. The Liberals (widely known as the Whigs) were ardent
        supporters of free enterprise and laissez-faire economics,
    
    and they were happy to keep Trevelyan in his post as the person responsible
    for overseeing relief efforts in Ireland.



    As the summer of 1846 approached its end and the harvest season for the
    next potato crop grew closer, most people believed that the hardships were
    about to come to an end. The poor were forced to sell off whatever
    livestock they owned and to pawn their possessions in order to raise money
    to buy food. Some were forced to borrow money from unscrupulous
    moneylenders at exorbitant rates. However, as harvest season approached,
    everyone believed they would soon have sufficient food because the potato
    crop had never failed two years in a row.



    



    


Chapter Five



    Full-blown Famine



    “The Almighty indeed sent the potato blight, but the English created the
    Famine.”



    —John Mitchell



    The summer of 1846 was cool and damp. Though no-one realized at the time,
    these were ideal conditions for the spread of the potato blight. At first
    the new crop looked healthy but then, as harvest time approached, the
    blight appeared and spread with frightening speed. Some reports claimed
    that the blight was spreading at a speed of 50 miles or more each week.
    This time, it wouldn’t be only half of the crop that was destroyed. By the
    beginning of the winter of 1846, it was becoming clear that there was
    barely a healthy potato left in the whole of Ireland. All that the harvest
    had provided were enough potatoes to feed some of the population for around
    one month.



    Suddenly, there weren’t food shortages in Ireland—there were famine and
    starvation in the west and southwest. By October 1846,
    
        people were beginning to die of starvation in the remote coastal
        districts of north Connemara.
    
    The Irish Coastguard Service had been involved in the distribution of
    maize, and when the Inspector-General of Coastguards in Ireland, Sir James
    Dombrain, became aware of the scale of the failure of the potato crop, he
    ordered that remaining stocks of maize should be distributed immediately
    and for free to starving families on production of a doctor’s certificate.
    When Charles Trevelyan heard about this, his response was immediate and
    angry—he issued a formal and public rebuke to Dombrain and instructed him
    to immediately stop issuing maize to starving families and that instead he
    should form local relief committees and try to raise funds to pay for the
    maize in the usual way. Dombrain’s response was that “there was no one
    within miles who could have contributed one shilling to any relief fund and
    people were actually dying.”



    Despite this rebuke, Inspector-General Dombrain ordered his men to continue
    to distribute the remaining stocks of food. The men of the Irish Coastguard
    Service also raised money amongst their stations to provide food for
    starving families on the west coast of Ireland. The difference between the
    attitude of Sir James Dombrain and that of Charles Trevelyan is stark and
    can only partly be explained by the fact that Dombrain and his Coast Guard
    officers were actually on the spot to see the starvation for themselves
    while Trevelyan was safely distant in London. However, actions such as this
    led to a growing belief in Ireland that Charles Trevelyan was more
    interested in maintaining bureaucratic propriety than preventing starvation
    and misery.



    By the time that the winter of 1846 arrived, it was clear that Ireland was
    facing something much more serious than a food shortage. People in rural
    areas were reduced to eating virtually anything they could find including
    nettles, roots, seaweed, and even grass. They sold or pawned everything
    they owned in order to find money with which to buy food. Parents were
    forced to listen to the continual crying of their starving children.
    Throughout this, ships continued to leave Ireland loaded with oats and
    grain bound for England. There were food riots in Youghal near Cork, where
    starving people from the countryside tried to seize a shipment of oats.
    
        At Dungarvan in County Waterford, British soldiers fired into a crowd
        of Irish people protesting the shipment of oats out of the country,
        killing two and wounding many others.
    
    
        To ensure that the flow of food out of Ireland would not be halted, the
        British Navy provided armed escorts for riverboats, and the British
        government sent not food but even more troops.
    
    An inhabitant of County Mayo wrote, “Would to God the Government would send
    us food instead of soldiers.”



    The winter of 1846/47 was savage. In Ireland, the weather is usually mild,
    but this particular winter brought storm after storm with all areas
    battered by snow, sleet, and hail. In rural areas, cottages were buried up
    to their roofs in snow. By the end of 1846, hundreds of thousands of
    unemployed men and women were working on the public relief projects
    introduced by Trevelyan. These people were paid very little, and food
    prices were rising rapidly—the price of corn meal, for example, had risen
    to three times the price it had been one year before. Many of the public
    works projects involved the building of roads, but there were so many
    people seeking relief and so little need of roads that these projects often
    constructed unwanted and unnecessary roads. Many people collapsed from
    hunger while working. Some simply died. By March 1847,
    
        over seven hundred thousand people were employed on useless public
        works projects where they were paid less than survival wages for
        themselves let alone enough to feed a family.
    



    Within rural communities there were scenes of indescribable horror. The
    magistrate of Cork, Nicholas Cummins, visited Skibbereen and wrote, “I
    entered some of the hovels and the scenes which presented themselves were
    such as no tongue or pen can convey the slightest idea of.” People were
    dying of starvation and associated diseases such as typhus and dysentery.
    The living were often so weak that the dead remained unburied for days or
    were placed without coffins in scraped out shallow graves where they were
    eaten by wild animals. Mass graves were dug where bodies could be easily
    dumped and covered in quicklime.



    By the spring of 1847,
    
        shipments of maize and other food which had been privately imported
        from America began to arrive in Ireland. However, the merchants who had
        purchased this discovered that the poorest people, those who were dying
        of starvation, had no money left and could not afford to buy this food.
    
    
        In Dublin and other towns, food was stockpiled in warehouses and shops
        while the thousands who could not afford to buy it starved.
    



    
        In March 1847, the British government underwent an abrupt change of
        approach to the problems in Ireland. Reports were beginning to make it
        clear that what was happening was a genuine humanitarian catastrophe,
        and it was decided that laissez-faire was no longer applicable. Between
        March and June, all British sponsored public works programs in Ireland
        were shut down and instead soup kitchens were to be opened which would
        provide food to the starving.
    



    The British government under the leadership of Lord John Russell passed
    
        the Soup Kitchen Act of 1847 which required local relief committees to
        set up soup kitchens using money collected from landlords and
        businessmen. The problem was that the lack of employment meant that a
        large proportion of the Irish population had no money to buy food or
        even to pay rent, which in turn meant that even wealthy merchants and
        landowners had no money to spare. The result was that there were far
        fewer soup kitchens than were required—in Killarney for example, there
        was just one soup kitchen for ten thousand people.
    
    Even the soup itself was produced as cheaply as possible using old scraps
    of meat, vegetables, and maize, all boiled in water to produce a thin gruel
    which caused many people severe stomach problems.



    By the
    
        summer of 1847, the soup had largely been replaced by something called
        “stirabout,” a concoction produced by boiling rice and maize in water.
        By the end of the summer, around three million people in Ireland were
        dependent on stirabout to keep them from starvation.
    
    
        The summer of 1847 was drier than the preceding summers, and that meant
        that the blight was less of a problem for that year’s potato crop.
        However, many of the seed potatoes which should have been planted had
        been eaten instead, and the harvest in the autumn of 1847 was only a
        quarter of what it usually was.
    
    Almost half the people of Ireland remained dependent on food provided by
    the British government.



    



    


Chapter Six



    Mass Emigration



    “What means the paying of the passage and emptying out upon our shores such
    floods of pauper emigrants—the contents of the poor house and the sweepings
    of the streets?—multiplying tumults and violence, filling our prisons and
    crowding our poor-houses.”



    —Lyman Beecher



    Many landowners in Ireland were close to bankruptcy. Their tenants could
    not afford to pay rents and plans to use farms for the more profitable
    grazing of cattle or sheep were impossible because of the many farm
    laborers’ cottages and smallholdings scattered across most farms. The
    solution was brutally simple—if the poor could be removed from the farms,
    these could be restructured in ways that were liable to produce more
    profit. Landowners went about ridding themselves of unwanted tenants in two
    ways.



    The most popular and most common way was simply to evict tenants. With so
    little work around and poor families being forced to spend what little
    savings they had to buy food, many were in arrears with rents. A landlord
    could apply for a legal judgment against a tenant, and when this was given
    the male head of the family could be imprisoned and the other members of
    the family evicted from their home. In the period 1845 to 1849, it is
    estimated that up to half a million people were evicted from their homes in
    Ireland for rent arrears.



    The second way of getting rid of unwanted tenants was to promise to pay for
    their emigration to North America. Poor families were tempted by stories of
    an easy life in the New World, and landlords promised not just to pay for
    these people’s passage to Canada or America but also to pay them a
    substantial bonus when they arrived in that country, enough to allow them
    to set themselves up comfortably in the new country.



    The truth was very different. British laws pertaining to carriage of
    passengers on sailing ships were very lax. For example, even for a voyage
    to North America which might take anything from forty days to three months,
    very little food was provided for passengers—the assumption was that
    passengers would bring their own food. However, many of the poor Irish who
    agreed to emigrate in 1847 had no food to bring and their hunger continued
    during the voyage. Likewise, passenger accommodation was spartan, and there
    were few regulations relating to safety. People were packed in together in
    conditions that were unsanitary and unhealthy. Diseases like cholera and
    typhus, which had become common in Ireland during the famine, were spread
    on ships taking people to America.



    The situation became so serious that many Canadian and American ports
    refused to accept ships from Ireland or made them wait for extended periods
    for quarantine checks. In Quebec, for example, by June of 1847, it was
    estimated that
    
        up to 14,000 Irish immigrants were waiting in ships moored on the Saint
        Lawrence River to undergo medical checks before they were allowed into
        the country. Being confined on ships where there were people suffering
        from diseases such as cholera and typhus meant that even healthy people
        contracted these diseases while they waited to be allowed ashore.
    



    
        Estimates suggest that as many as 100,000 people from Ireland were
        persuaded to emigrate to North America in 1847. Up to 20,000 did not
        survive the voyage.
    
    When they were finally allowed ashore, most of the survivors discovered
    that the agents they expected to meet them with food, clothes, jobs, and
    places to live did not exist. They had simply exchanged poverty,
    starvation, and death on one continent for the same situation on another.



    Not all immigrants from Ireland went to America—many instead made the short
    crossing from Ireland to Britain, arriving in large numbers at the ports of
    Liverpool and Glasgow. Some of these people were en-route for America
    (Liverpool was a main point of embarkation for America) while others simply
    sought to escape the starvation in Ireland.
    
        In the first six months of 1847, an estimated 300,000 people from
        Ireland arrived in Liverpool.
    
    The city was overwhelmed—before the arrival of the Irish, the total
    population of the city was less than a quarter of a million. So many
    destitute Irish arrived in the city that there was nowhere for them to live
    and disease began to spread rapidly. The same thing happened in Glasgow,
    and finally the British government reacted by passing new laws which
    allowed local authorities to forcibly deport immigrants back to Ireland.



    The fact that only around a quarter of the usual potato crop had been
    planted and harvested in 1847 meant that these people, along with those who
    remained in Ireland, faced an uncertain future.
    
        The soup kitchens set up by the British were closed down in the autumn
        of 1847—they had been intended as a temporary solution, to be used only
        until the potato harvest arrived.
    
    However, as the harvest was so much smaller than usual, many people were
    still left starving.



    



    


Chapter Seven



    Poor Laws, Revolt, and the Return of the Blight



    “The Irish Famine of 1846 killed more than 1,000,000 people, but it killed
    poor devils only. To the wealth of the country it did not the slightest
    damage.”



    —Karl Marx



    Infuriated by the arrival of large numbers of people from Ireland in
    Scotland and England,
    
        the British government passed a new law in June 1847, the
    
    Irish Poor Law Extension Act
    . The purpose of this law was to make landlords in Ireland directly
    responsible for the welfare of their tenants. However, what wasn’t fully
    appreciated was that many large estates in Ireland were near to bankruptcy
    and there wasn’t any real possibility of gathering sufficient taxes from
    landowners to feed the millions affected by the shortage of potatoes.



    The situation was made even worse when in the autumn of 1847 there was a
    financial crisis in Britain following a number of failed speculations. This
    made many British politicians more determined than ever that Britain should
    not be forced to pay for Irish problems.



    A major effort was made to raise taxes from property owners in Ireland.
    Where required, troops were used to seize property in lieu of tax. The
    British Chancellor of the Exchequer, Charles Wood, wrote to the senior
    British official in Ireland, “Arrest, remand, do anything you can. Send
    horse, foot and dragoons, all the world will applaud you, and I should not
    be at all squeamish as to what I did, to the verge of the law and a little
    beyond.” All these efforts raised around one million pounds in tax. The
    most conservative estimates suggested that a minimum of ten million pounds
    would be required to feed the starving in Ireland until the next potato
    harvest in 1848.



    Workhouses were unable to accommodate even a fraction of those who required
    help, and large numbers of people starved to death in their homes or by the
    sides of roads. Violence, especially directed at landlords who were trying
    to evict tenants from their land, began to sweep Ireland. In late 1847, 16
    people directly involved in land management were murdered in Ireland. The
    British government responded by sending 15,000 additional troops to
    Ireland. Early in 1848,
    
        a group of radicals calling themselves Young Ireland began to agitate
        for an uprising against British rule.
    
    Many destitute Irish found this an appealing prospect, but the truth was
    that there never was anything approaching an organized rebellion.



    
        Hearing rumors of a planned uprising, the British responded by sending
        more troops to Ireland and passing the Treason Felony Act which made
        even speaking out against the British Government or Monarchy a crime
        punishable by transportation.
    
    Talk of an uprising came to nothing and instead, the people of Ireland
    began to prepare for the potato harvest of 1848. There had been no blight
    in 1847—food shortages had been caused because not enough potatoes had been
    planted. Determined to make sure that the same thing did not happen, people
    sold or pawned anything they had left to plant potatoes in 1848, hoping
    that the blight had gone for good and that a good harvest that year would
    finally allow Ireland to return to normal.



    The summer of 1848 was damp and chilly, ideal conditions for the spread of
    the blight. When the potato crop should have been ready for harvest in
    September 1848, 
    
        it quickly became apparent that the blight had returned.
    
    Starvation and hardship had been substantial before, but with the failure
    of the 1848 crop, Ireland faced a disaster of biblical proportions. The
    winter of 1848/49 is remembered in Ireland as “The Long Night of Sorrow.”



    When the extent of the failure of the potato crop became known in Britain,
    it was for the most part greeted with a lack of understanding and a degree
    of impatience. The British Prime Minister Lord John Russell spoke for many
    when he said, “We have subscribed, worked, visited, clothed, for the Irish,
    millions of money, years of debate, etc., etc., etc. The only return is
    rebellion and calumny. Let us not grant, lend, clothe, etc., any more, and
    see what that will do.”



    
    
        Charles Trevelyan, who was knighted in 1848 for his work on providing
        relief to the people of Ireland during the famine
    
    , suggested that once again, the burden of providing for the destitute in
    Ireland should fall upon Irish landowners. He advised raising taxes once
    more, completely ignoring the fact that it had not been possible to collect
    even a fraction of the taxes previously levied. Many large estates in
    Ireland simply did not have any money to pay taxes, no matter how they were
    pressed. Unable to pay these increased taxes, many chose to emigrate to
    North America.



    In Ireland, especially in rural areas, the suffering was almost beyond
    comprehension. People died in large numbers and many were left unburied.
    Dogs fed from the bodies of the dead and then people ate the dogs. At least
    one woman was said to have gone insane and eaten the flesh from the bodies
    of her dead children. In the overcrowded workhouses, epidemics of cholera
    carried away hundreds of people weakened by hunger. People began to commit
    crimes simply because they hoped for transportation to Australia. One young
    convict told a newspaper reporter, “Even if I had chains on my legs, I
    would still have something to eat.”



    Starvation continued to afflict Ireland
    
        until the potato harvest of 1849 finally provided a plentiful crop.
    
    Ironically, by the time of the starvation during the winter of 1848/49,
    there was plentiful food in shops and warehouses, but the people who were
    starving had no money to buy it.
    
        It took two more good harvests before there was finally sufficient food
        in Ireland in 1851.
    



    However, though the new harvest brought an end to starvation, it did not
    end hardship and hunger for the poorest families in Ireland. Many large
    estates had been reduced to virtual bankruptcy during the famine, and some
    wanted to replace poor tenant farmers with more profitable uses of the
    land. Between 1849 and 1854, over 50,000 families were evicted from their
    rural homes.



    The potato blight seemed to disappear after the failed harvest of 1848
    though it did briefly re-appear in 1879. However, by that time there were
    fewer people living in rural areas in Ireland and those who were still
    there were better organized and were able to avert further starvation.



    



    


Chapter Eight



    Aftermath



    “Gaunt Famine never shall approach the throne. Though Ireland starve, great
    George weighs twenty stone.”



    —Lord Byron, Don Juan



    There is a great deal of debate about how many people died during the
    potato famine between 1845 and 1849. According to a census undertaken on
    behalf of the British government in 1841, the population of Ireland was a
    little over eight million people. By the time of the next census in 1851,
    allowing for normal population growth, the population of Ireland should
    have been around nine million. Instead, it was actually around six and a
    half million. This leaves a deficit of two and a half million people.
    Around one million people were known to have emigrated, so some people have
    taken this to mean that the famine and the diseases which accompanied it
    accounted for one and a half million deaths.



    These figures are disputed by some historians who claim that the actual
    death toll was closer to or even less than one million. The precise figure
    seems relatively unimportant. The fact that vast numbers of people could
    die of famine while under the direct governance of one of the wealthiest
    and most advanced countries in the world is sufficiently horrible that
    actual numbers do not seem relevant other than to those directly affected.



    What is known is that the deaths were concentrated in the west and
    southwest of Ireland, especially in rural communities, and the worst
    affected were those aged under five and the elderly. Between 1845 and 1849,
    the counties of Mayo and Sligo, two of the worst affected, averaged more
    than 60,000 deaths directly related to the famine each year. Other
    counties, especially those in the north, were less severely affected but
    even relatively affluent counties such as Dublin and Londonderry suffered
    around 10,000 deaths per year in the same period.



    
        The economy of Ireland did not recover quickly from the problems which
        accompanied the famine. In the second half of the nineteenth century,
        more than three million Irish people emigrated, mainly to North
        America. Emigration plus a lowered birth rate led to a steady decline
        of the total population of Ireland which had fallen to around four
        million by the middle of the twentieth century.
    



    The rural landscape in Ireland was also completely and irrevocably changed
    by the famine. Large numbers of small villages and farm workers’ cottages
    disappeared as landowners turned their farms over to more profitable sheep
    and cattle grazing and the growing of grains.



    Even the Irish language itself was drastically affected by the famine. At
    the beginning of the nineteenth century, Irish was the first language
    spoken by more than one-quarter of the population of Ireland. However, the
    Irish language was mainly the language of the poorer classes, those most
    severely affected by the famine. The deaths and emigration caused by the
    famine were felt most keenly by this class and, though there were other
    factors involved, a census in 1891 showed that only 3.5% of children under
    the age of ten could speak Irish, and it seemed that the language was on
    the point of dying out completely.



    Politically, there was little direct response to the famine because the
    people most affected, the poorest members of Irish society, did not have
    the vote. It wasn’t until 40 years later, in the 1880s, that the first
    popular Irish nationalist political movement, the Home Rule League, emerged
    but when it did appear, it used the legacy of the famine to encourage
    support.



    



    


Chapter Nine



    Legacy



    “The English indeed, call that famine a dispensation of Providence; and
    ascribe it entirely to the blight of the potatoes. But potatoes failed in
    like manner all over Europe, yet there was no famine save in Ireland.”



    —John Mitchel



    Many people in Ireland blamed the English for allowing more than one
    million people in Ireland to starve during the famine. Some went so far as
    to accuse the British government of deliberate genocide. The British
    government certainly had no hand in the appearance of the potato blight or
    the reliance of the Irish rural community on the potato as the main food,
    but the response of the government was, at the very least, insufficient.



    During the period 1845 to 1850, the British government paid a total of £7
    million in aid to Ireland. This amounts to less than half of one percent of
    the Gross National Product for that period. In comparison, it has been
    noted that during the 1830s the British government paid out more than £20
    million in compensation to slave owners in the West Indies who were forced
    to give up their slaves when Britain outlawed slavery. In 1849, at the
    height of the famine, Edward Twisleton, the British Chief Poor Law
    Commissioner, resigned claiming that “comparatively trifling sums were
    required for Britain to spare itself the deep disgrace of permitting its
    miserable fellow subjects to die of starvation.”



    For a government to allow more than one million of its citizens to starve
    to death or to die from associated diseases when there was food available
    with which to feed them is extraordinary and very difficult to defend.
    Partly, the problem seems to have been that the gravity of the situation in
    Ireland was not quickly or readily understood in Britain. In 1846, Sir
    James Graham, the man who had been Home Secretary, wrote to former Prime
    Minister Sir Robert Peel that “the real extent and magnitude of the Irish
    difficulty are underestimated by the Government, and cannot be met by
    measures within the strict rule of economical science.”



    However, there was also an element of religious bigotry involved in the
    reaction of the British government to the famine. In addition to those like
    Charles Trevelyan who saw the famine as some kind of punishment visited on
    the Irish people on account of their “popery,” there was also in some
    quarters a feeling that this was both a way to halt and a judgment on the
    unchecked population growth which seemed to be endemic to the teachings of
    the Catholic Church. These things coincided to foster a feeling that the
    Irish had somehow brought these problems on themselves and that, at some
    level, they deserved this terrible calamity.



    These views were not universally held in Britain, and there were vociferous
    opponents of the laissez-faire attitude to Ireland even in the British
    Parliament. However, the people of Ireland were left to wonder whether a
    famine would have been allowed to happen in Britain or whether the famine
    would have happened if Ireland was ruled by its own parliament rather than
    one located in London.



    It was inevitable that the Irish independence movement would gather
    strength and followers after the famine. The Young Ireland movement may
    have been suppressed, but it did not disappear. Instead, it went
    underground and reappeared as the Irish Republican Brotherhood. Its
    counterpart among Irish patriots in America became known as the Fenian
    Brotherhood. The Fenians were involved in a failed attempt at rebellion in
    Ireland in 1867. In 1916, an uprising in Dublin of Irish Republicans left
    400 people dead and parts of the city in ruins. In 1920 and 1921, there was
    protracted and bloody fighting between the British Army and the Irish
    Republican Army which led to the establishment of the Irish Free State with
    
        the southern part of Ireland attaining its own government but remaining
        a part of the British Commonwealth.
    



    On Easter Monday 1949, the Republic of Ireland was proclaimed, and Ireland
    became a sovereign, independent country. Britain retained sovereignty over
    six counties in the north which became Northern Ireland and where conflict
    between an Irish Catholic minority and British Irish Protestants led to
    decades of terrorism and violence which became known as the Troubles.



    There is no doubt that the legacy of distrust and disrespect which British
    behavior during the famine engendered fed into the Irish nationalist cause
    which gained strength during the second half of the nineteenth century. The
    very large numbers of dispossessed and impoverished people forced to
    emigrate to America during the famine also fed into the growth of the
    Fenian movement which would become a major source of funds, weapons, and
    volunteers in the armed struggle for Irish independence. In Ireland and
    abroad, the British failure to prevent mass starvation in Ireland certainly
    and inadvertently increased Irish nationalism and may even have contributed
    indirectly to the creation of an independent Ireland.



    The famine left an enduring legacy in Ireland which is apparent even today.
    When charities appeal for funds for famine relief, the people of Ireland
    give more than most other countries. When Band Aid set out to raise funds
    for famine relief in Africa, the Irish people gave more per head of
    population than any other country in the world. Perhaps as a direct result
    of the experience of the Great Famine, Irelands remains at the forefront of
    efforts at international famine relief.



    Since 2008 Ireland has held an annual observance commemorating the victims
    of the Great Famine. This is generally held in May and involves visits to
    places affected by the famine, events commemorating the famine, and a
    minute’s silence for the victims. There are a number of memorials to the
    victims of the famine in Ireland and more than one hundred around the
    world.


 


    



    


Conclusion



    The Great Famine of 1846-1849 was one of the most shameful episodes of the
    British Empire. It was bad enough that more than one million British
    subjects were allowed to die of disease and starvation, but this happened
    while food which could have been used to feed them was exported or kept in
    guarded warehouses.



    There were many causes of the famine. In retrospect, the reliance of a
    large proportion of the Irish population on a single crop made them
    especially vulnerable to a disease such as the potato blight. The blight
    itself was little understood, and it was no more than sheer ill-luck that
    its spread was made more rapid by several damp, chilly summers.



    However, the failure of the British government to respond adequately to the
    plight of the poor in Ireland was caused by two quite separate issues. The
    first was widespread ignorance of conditions in Ireland even at the worst
    of the famine. Many people believed that reports of large-scale starvation
    were exaggerated, in part because ordinary people had no conception of just
    how reliant the population of Ireland was on the potato. The second was a
    feeling that the rebellious, ungrateful, and largely Catholic Irish
    population had somehow brought this catastrophe upon themselves.



    The government of Britain bore no responsibility for the Irish reliance on
    the potato or for the blight which decimated successive crops. However,
    they had it within their power to alleviate or perhaps even to eradicate
    completely the starvation which followed. They chose not to do this. For
    these reasons, the Great Famine is often regarded as one of the greatest
    failures of any modern European country to protect the welfare of its
    citizens.
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